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Dane S. Ciolino December 3, 2017

LSBA Proposes Writing Requirement for All Fee
Agreements

lalegalethics.org /lsba-proposes-writing-requirement-for-all-fee-agreements/

Under existing Louisiana law, only contingent fee agreements
must be in writing. See Louisiana Rule of Professional Conduct
r. 1.5(c) (providing that “[a] contingent fee agreement shall be in
a writing signed by the client”). As to all other types of fee
agreements—including hourly-fee agreements and fixed-fee
agreements—no writing requirement exists, although the rules
suggest that written fee agreements are “preferable.” See id. r.
1.5(b) (providing that the rate of the fee “shall be
communicated to the client, preferably in writing”).

This will change, however, if the Louisiana Supreme Court adopts a recent proposal from the LSBA Rules of
Professional Conduct Committee. On November 21, 2017, the committee proposed a revision to Rule 1.5(b)
that would require all fee agreements to be in writing:

(b) The scope of the representation and the basis or rate of the fee and expenses for which
the client will be responsible shall be communicated to the client, preferably in a writing
approved bv the client, before or within a reasonable time after commencing the
representation, except when the lawyer will charge a regularly represented client on the
same basis or rate. Any changes in the basis or rate of the fee or expenses shall also be
communicated to the client in writing within a reasonable time.

See Stanley Letter to LASC (Nov. 21, 2017).1

Is This a Good Proposal?
Yes. It is fairly obvious that agreements as important as lawyer-cleint engagement agreements should be in
writing. As the comments to ABA Model Rule 1.5 note, “it is desirable to furnish the client with at least a
simple memorandum or copy of the lawyer’s customary fee arrangements that states the general nature of
the legal services to be provided, the basis, rate or total amount of the fee and whether and to what extent
the client will be responsible for any costs, expenses or disbursements in the course of the representation.”
See ABA Model Rule of Prof’l Conduct r. 1.5, cmt. 2. After all, such a “written statement concerning the
terms of the engagement reduces the possibility of misunderstanding.” Id. Requiring that the terms of a
lawyer’s engagement and the scope of the lawyer’s representation be in writing will not only serve to reduce
the number of lawyer-client disputes, but also help to resolve those that unfortunately do arise. The court
should adopt the proposal.

1. Note that this is part of a sweeping proposal by the LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct Committee
relating to fixed fees. See Dane S. Ciolino, LSBA Proposes Sweeping New Rule on Fixed Fees (Dec.
3, 2017).
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Dane S. Ciolino December 3, 2017

LSBA Proposes Sweeping New Rule on Fixed Fees
lalegalethics.org /lsba-proposes-sweeping-new-rule-on-fixed-fees/

Under existing law, a lawyer earns a fixed fee at the commencement of
the representation. As a result, current Louisiana Rule of Professional
Conduct 1.5(f)(2), permits the lawyer to deposit the fixed fee into the
lawyer’s operating account upon receipt:

(2) When the client pays the lawyer all or part of a fixed fee or of
a minimum fee for particular representation with services to be
rendered in the future, the funds become the property of the
lawyer when paid, subject to the provisions of Rule 1.5(f)(5). Such funds need not be placed
in the lawyer’s trust account, but may be placed in the lawyer’s operating account.

This rule does not mean, however, that a fixed fee paid in advance is “nonrefundable.” If the lawyer-client
agreement terminates prematurely, the lawyer must return any unearned portion of the fee. After all,
keeping an unearned fee would violate Louisiana Rule 1.5(a), which prohibits a lawyer from charging or
collecting an “unreasonable fee.”

The obligation to refund an unearned portion of a fixed fee after payment has caused problems in practice.
The Client Assistance Fund and the Office of Disciplinary Counsel have reported instances in which a
lawyer has died prior to completing the work promised. They have also reported instances in which a client
has fired a deadbeat lawyer after paying a fixed fee. In such cases, the client’s request for a post-discharge
refund all too often has been met with this reply: “Sorry, the money’s all gone.”

May 2017 LSBA Proposal
To address this problem, in May 2017 the LSBA recommended to the Louisiana
Supreme Court that it amend Rule 1.5(f)(2) to allow fixed fees only when a lawyer
obtains “the informed consent of the client in a writing signed by the client.” More
particularly, the amended rule would have provided as follows:

(f) Payment of fees in advance of services shall be subject to the following
rules: . . .

(2) A lawyer may charge a fixed or minimum fee for specified legal
services, which fee may be paid in whole or in part in advance of the lawyer providing the
services. With the informed consent of the client in a writing signed by the client, and subject
to the provisions of Rule 1.5(f)(5), the funds may be used by the lawyer when paid and,
need not be placed in the lawyer’s trust account. The written fee agreement shall include the
following:

(i) the scope of services to be provided;
1/3Dane S. Ciolino Page 3 of 30 Legal Ethics



(ii) the total amount of the fee and the terms of payment;

(iii) that the funds will be used by the lawyer when paid and will not be placed in a trust
account;

(iv) that the fee agreement does not alter the client’s right to terminate the client-lawyer
relationship; and

(v) that the client may be entitled to a refund of a portion of the fee if the agreed-upon legal
services have not been completed.

See Resolution 2, LSBA House of Delegates (May 6, 2016) (approved by the LSBA House of Delegates on
June 9, 2016, and the LSBA Board of Governors on June 10, 2016).

This was a compromise proposal. It addressed some of the problems associated with fixed fees,1 but it did
not take the controversial step of requiring a lawyer to place a fixed fee in trust until the conclusion of a
matter. 2

Court Rejects LSBA Proposal
The Louisiana Supreme Court, however, rejected the proposal. In a letter dated May 19, 2017, the court
noted that it appreciated “the hard work the Rules of Professional Conduct Committee has done in
proposing this amendment, we do not believe it presents an adequate solution to the problem
presented.” See LASC Letter to Stanley (May 19, 2017). As a result, it asked the committee “to continue its
work on this issue and propose a solution that will better protect clients in the event the attorney is unable to
complete the matter contracted for.” Id.

The LSBA Tries Again
In response to the court’s request, the LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct Committee went back to work.
On November 21, 2017, the committee proposed a sweeping revision to the rules governing fixed-fees to
address the court’s concerns. See Stanley Letter to LASC (Nov. 21, 2017). Among other things, the
committee’s new proposal:

Recommends a revision to Rule 1.5(a) that expressly prohibits the designation of any payment (of
fees or costs) as “nonrefundable.” Id.

Recommends a revision to Rule 1.5(f)(2) that would require fixed-fee and minimum-fee agreements
to be “set forth with specificity in a writing signed by the client,” and that would require the lawyer to
provide a copy of the signed agreement to the client. Id.

Recommends a revision to Rule 1.5(f)(2) that would require fixed fee and minimum fee payments to
be “placed in the lawyer’s trust account until earned.” However, it would permit the lawyer, “with the
informed consent of the client,” to “set reasonable milestones occurring during the representation to
allow these funds to be transferred from the trust account to the operating account as fees are
earned.” Such transfers would be permissible “without further authorization from the client for each
transfer,” subject to “periodic accounting in writing to the client for these funds as is reasonable under
the circumstances.” Id.
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Is This a Good Proposal?
Yes. The November 21, 2017, LSBA proposal reasonably accomodates the interests of both clients and
lawyers. As to clients, it assures that any unearned portion of a fixed-fee or minimum-fee payment will be
available to the client if the lawyer-client relationship terminates by death or discharge prior to substantial
completion of the services called for by the lawyer-client agreement. As to lawyers, it assures fair
compensation for legal services without unreasonable delay. As to both, it assures that the terms of the
engagement and scope of legal services are not only clear at the outset of a representation, but also
memorialized in writing to resolve disputes that arise later. The court should adopt the proposal.

1. For example, it would have required the lawyer and client to agree upon the scope of the lawyer’s
services at the commencement of the representation—something that is often a point of confusion. It
also would have required formal notification to the client of the right both to terminate the lawyer’s
services and to demand the refund of any unearned portion of the up-front fee.

2. The imposition of such a requirement was vehemently opposed by the criminal defense bar.
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Dane S. Ciolino December 3, 2017

LSBA Makes “No Recommendation” on Adoption of
Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Rule

lalegalethics.org /lsba-makes-no-recommendation-on-adoption-of-anti-discrimination-and-anti-harassment-rule/

On November 27, 2017, the LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct
Committee reported that it would make “no recommendation”
regarding the adoption of a rule prohibiting discrimination and
harassment in conduct related to the practice of law. See Richard
C. Stanley, Letter to LSBA Outreach and Diversity Director (Nov.
27, 2017). This “no recommendation” vote came after more than a
year of analysis and discussion in the wake of the ABA’s adoption
of a model rule addressing these issues.

Background: The 2016 Adoption of ABA Model Rule 8.4(g)
In 2016, the ABA amended Model Rule 8.4 to include a broad anti-discrimination and anti-harassment
provision, and three revised comments. The amendment, which was sponsored by several ABA
groups,1 added this new paragraph (g) to the black-letter of Rule 8.4:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (g) engage in conduct that the lawyer knows
or reasonably should know is harassment or discrimination on the basis of race, sex,
religion, national origin, ethnicity, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital
status or socioeconomic status in conduct related to the practice of law. This paragraph does
not limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline, or withdraw from a representation in
accordance with Rule 1.16. This paragraph does not preclude legitimate advice or advocacy
consistent with these rules.

See ABA Revised Resolution 109 (adopted Aug. 8, 2016).

It is often difficult to have a rational discussion about anti-discrimination and anti-harassment rule making.
Some fervently believe that such provisions are yet another example of political correctness run a muck.
Others just as fervently believe that such provisions serve to promote inclusiveness and confidence in the
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legal profession. Irrespective of viewpoint, every lawyer should
be concerned about the breadth of the ABA’s model rule.

First, the rule and its comments broadly define “harassment” to
include any “derogatory or demeaning verbal conduct” by a
lawyer relating to a person’s “race, sex, religion, national origin,
ethnicity, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity,
marital status or socioeconomic status.” Even words that are not
“harmful” meet the definition of “harassment” if they are
“derogatory or demeaning” and relate to a designated category
of person.

Second, the rule subjects to discipline not only a lawyer who
knowingly engages in harassment or discrimination, but also a
lawyer who negligently utters a derogatory or demeaning
comment. So, a lawyer who did not know that a comment was
offensive will be disciplined if the lawyer should have known that it was. It will be interesting to see how the
“objectively reasonable lawyer” will be constructed for purposes of making this determination.

Third, the rule and its comments subject to discipline not only a lawyer who slings a “derogatory or
demeaning comment” directly at another person, but also a lawyer who makes an abstract comment about
general types or categories of people. Indeed, in revising comment 4, the ABA expressly deleted language
that would have limited the definition of “harassment” to include only derogatory or demeaning conduct
directed “towards a person who is, or is perceived to be, a member of one of the groups.”

Fourth, the rule subjects to discipline a lawyer who discriminates on the basis of “socioeconomic status.”
What is that? UCLA Law Professor Eugene Volokh raises this (valid) concern:

That term isn’t defined in the proposed rule, but the one definition I’ve seen — interpreting a
similar ban on socioeconomic-status discrimination in the Sentencing Guidelines — is “an
individual’s status in society as determined by objective criteria such as education, income,
and employment.” United States v. Lopez, 938 F.2d 1293, 1297 (D.C. Cir. 1991); see also
United States v. Peltier, 505 F.3d 389, 393 & n.14 (5th Cir. 2007) (likewise treating wealth as
an element of socioeconomic status); United States v. Graham, 946 F.2d 19, 21 (4th Cir.
1991) (same).

Eugene Volokh, Banning Lawyers from Discriminating Based on ‘Socioeconomic Status’ in Choosing
Partners, Employees or Experts, The Volokh Conspiracy (Aug. 10, 2016). Volokh questions whether this
rule will prohibit a law firm from preferring lawyers, nonlawyer assistants, and expert witnesses with degrees
from high-status educational institutions. Id.

Louisiana Considers Adopting an Anti-Discrimination Rule
After considering the ABA’s model rule, a subcommittee of the LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct
Committee proposed the addition of a new Louisiana Rule 8.4(h), that would have provided as follows:
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It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (h) engage in conduct in connection with the
practice of law that the lawyer knows or reasonably should know involves discrimination
prohibited by law because of race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national
origin, marital status, or disability. This Rule does not prohibit legitimate advocacy when
race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, or
disability are issues, nor does it limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline or withdraw
from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16.

See LSBA Rules of Professonal Conduct, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report Executive Summary at p. 2 (Mar.
24, 2017); see also LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct Committee, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report (Mar.
24, 2017) (full report). In July 2017, the LSBA Rules Committee published the subcommittee’s proposal and
invited written comments on the adoption of a new anti-discrimination standard of professional conduct.

The invitation was well received; the committee received a large number of comments—including an opinion
from the Louisiana Attorney General that the proposal was unconstitutional. The comments were
overwhelmingly negative.

On October 30, 2017, the committee met in New Orleans to consider the comments received and to discuss
adopting the ABA model rule or the subcommittee’s proposal. After a long debate, the committee voted 7-4
to make “no recommendation.” See Richard C. Stanley, Letter to LSBA Outreach and Diversity Director
(Nov. 27, 2107). Although the committee’s chairperson noted that “it is difficult to summarize the rationale of
the lengthy debate in its entirety, the primary arguments made by those opposing the rule” were as follows:

Existing rules permit ODC to prosecute much of the conduct that would be covered by the proposed
rule, “thus making it unnecessary.”

The proposed rule contains ambiguous terms that could engender litigation and create uncertainty.

The proposed rule may be unconstitutional.

Id. at pp. 1-2.

The committee’s decision was a good one. Louisiana clearly should not adopt the ABA’s standard. For all of
the reasons discussed above, the ABA model rule is fraught with problems.

Moreover, the proposal of the subcommittee was also problematic . Granted, the subcommittee’s proposal
was less problematic than the new ABA model rule. For example, it did not brand any sort of “harassment”
as misconduct, and thereby avoided the myriad problems associated with the ABA anti-harassment
standard. However, the subcommittee’s proposal still raised serious questions. It branded as “misconduct”
purely negligent discrimination. And it inexplicably incorporated some of the ABA’s protected classes (race,
religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, and disability), but excluded others
(ethnicity, gender identity, and socioeconomic status).

Conclusion
In my view, Louisiana either should do nothing at all (like what the committee did), or adopt a simpler anti-
discrimination standard that is directly tethered to anti-discrimination laws applicable to Louisiana lawyers.
Such anti-discrimination laws would include those enacted by the federal government, the State of
Louisiana, and local governments. Doing so would avoid the need for the LSBA to “keep up” with changing
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notions of what personal characteristics are worthy of class protection.2 Doing so would also avoid imposing
discipline on innocent and merely negligent lawyers. Here is my proposed language:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (h) engage in conduct in connection with the
practice of law that the lawyer knows is unlawful discrimination prohibited by federal, state,
or local law. This Rule does not prohibit legitimate advocacy when a protected personal
characteristic is relevant to the representation, nor does it limit the ability of a lawyer to
accept, decline or withdraw from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16.

Ultimately, the Louisiana Supreme Court will decide whether this, or any similar anti-discrimination rule, will
become part of the Louisiana Rules of Professional Conduct.

 

1. The amendment was sponsored by the ABA’s Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional
Responsibility, the Section of Civil Rights and Social Justice, the Commission on Disability Rights,
the Diversity & Inclusion 360 Commission, the Commission on Racial and Ethnic Diversity in the
Profession, the Commission on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity, and the Commission on
Women in the Profession. See Lorelei Laird, Discrimination and Harassment Will be Legal Ethics
Violations Under ABA Model Rule, ABA Journal (Aug. 8, 2016, 6:36 p.m.).

2. For example, my proposal would brand as “misconduct” unlawful conduct based on personal
characteristics protected by federal law such as race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, sexual
orientation, gender idenity, pregnancy, citizenship, familial status, disability status, veteran status, and
genetic information.

4/4Dane S. Ciolino Page 9 of 30 Legal Ethics



Danielle Vasquez December 2, 2017

Lawyers, Check Your Spam Emails
lalegalethics.org /lawyers-check-your-spam-emails/

Do you know what’s in your spam inbox? You should. A cautionary tale
from Florida makes it clear that a “defective email system” is no
excuse for missing important communications. See Emerald Coast
Utilities Authority v. Bear Marcus Pointe¸LLC, Case No. 1D15-5714
(Fla 1st DCA 2017).

In March 2014, the firm of Odom & Barlow, P.A., represented the
appellant in an eminent domain proceeding.  The trial court entered an
order assessing attorney’s fees against the appellant and sent its order
to the firm’s designated email address.  The appellant’s lawyers,
however, never received the email and, as a result, failed to appeal
timely.  When they learned of the order, the lawyers filed a motion to
permit an untimely appeal, arguing that their firm’s spam filter
intercepted the court’s email and permanently deleted it.  Id.

The court noted that the firm was on notice of the spam filter’s faulty configuration1 but “made a conscious
decision to use a defective email system without any safeguards or oversight in order to save money.  Such
a decision cannot constitute excusable neglect.”2 Id.

In 2012, the ABA adopted an amendment to ABA Model Rule of Professional Responsibility 1.1, comment 8,
providing that to be professionally “competent,” a lawyer “should keep abreast of changes in the law and its
practice, including the benefits and risks associated with relevant technology . . . .” See ABA, Commission
on Ethics 20/20 Resolution 105A (August 2012). A competent lawyer who uses email—and all should—must
understand the considerable risks associated with automatic, background spam filtering. In my view, a
lawyer should never trust a spam filter. Instead, a lawyer should routinely scan the lawyer’s spam inbox to
look for improperly classified communications. The duty of competence requires nothing less.

1. William Hankins, a former IT consultant for Odom & Barlow, testified that he warned the firm’s
partners about the spam filter.  He advised the firm “to hire a third party that handled spam filtering
on a full-time basis,” but the firm rejected his recommendation because it did not “want to spend the
extra money.”  Id.

2. The existence of excusable neglect permits a court to exercise discretion to set aside a final
judgment under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540(b).
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Claire Zeringue December 3, 2017

November 2017 Discipline
lalegalethics.org /november-2017-discipline/

These lawyers were the subject of Louisiana Supreme Court disciplinary orders or Louisiana Attorney
Disciplinary Board recommendations that were made public during the month of November 2017.

Louisiana Supreme Court

1. Erica May Lotz. The court publicly reprimanded the respondent
as reciprocal discipline for a public reprimand imposed in
Tennessee. The respondent comingled client funds with personal
funds.

2. John Thomas Fuller, IV. The court granted a joint petition for
consent discipline and publicly reprimanded the respondent. The
respondent communicated with two persons known to be
represented by counsel without the consent of their lawyers.

3. Jeanne Marie Bourque. The court ordered the reinstatement of
the respondent with the condition that she comply with all terms
of a recovery agreement with JLAP.

4. Michael J. Cutshaw. The court denied the respondent’s
application for reinstatement but noted that the respondent may reapply upon complying with all
recommendations made by JLAP.

5. Kenneth Michael Waguespack, Jr. The court permanently disbarred the respondent. The respondent
failed to communicated with clients, misused and converted client funds, neglected legal matters, and
failed to cooperate with the ODC.

6. Raymond J. Pajares. The court transferred the respondent to disability inactive status, and denied his
motion to seal.

7. Ramsey T. Marcello. The court denied the respondent’s application readmission. The court noted that
the respondent may reapply upon complying with the previous order of the court.

8. Wayne E. Garrett. The court suspended the respondent for six months, all deferred with a
probationary period of one year. The respondent commingled and converted client funds, failed to
pay third-parties, and failed to properly manage his client trust account.

9. Bradley G. Wood. The court suspended the respondent on an interim basis.

10. Darryl L. Robertson. The court suspended the respondent for one year and one day. The respondent
failed to properly represent his client, failed to diligently pursue a legal matter, and failed to
communicate with a client.  Additionally, the respondent failed to answer ODC’s formal charges.

11. Timmy James Fontenot. The court disbarred the respondent. The respondent mishandled a client’s
matter, failed to properly communicate with his client, forged signatures on settlement documents,
and mishandled his client trust account.

Louisiana Attorney Disciplinary Board
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1. William A. Roe. The board recommended the readmission of the
petitioner. The petitioner is a disbarred lawyer and retired judge. 
The petitioner took advanced funds from a “bond fund” and did not
reimburse them, thus receiving double compensation for the same
expenses.

2. Timon V. Webre. The board recommended the imposition of a
year-and-a-day suspension, fully deferred and subject to a one-
year period of supervised probation with additional conditions. The
respondent failed to diligently represent his client, failed to
communicate with his client, and mishandled his client trust
account.

3. Steven Courtney Gill. The board recommended that the
respondent’s application for reinstatement be denied.  The board noted that reinstatement should
require evaluation and treatment under the auspices of JLAP.

4. Paul E. Brown. The board recommended the imposition of a year-and-a-day suspension, fully
deferred, with supervised probation of two years conditioned upon a substance-abuse evaluation.
The respondent had a history of DWI and opiate use.

5. James A. Gray, II. The board recommended the imposition of a one-year suspension, to be followed
by a one-year period of probation. After several attempts by the ODC to give the respondent notice
of the complaint, the respondent failed to respond to the complaint.

LADB Hearing Committees

1. Nichole Rene Goudeau. Hearing Committee #14 recommended the suspension of the respondent for
six months, with all but thirty days deferred, to be followed by a two-year period of unsupervised
probation. Additionally, the committee recommended that the respondent attend LSBA Ethics School. 
The respondent failed to comply with minimum MCLE requirements, failed to pay bar dues, and
made an agreement for an unreasonable fee, among other misconduct.

2. Neil Dennis Montgomery. Hearing Committee #24 recommended a one year and one day suspension
of the respondent. The respondent neglected a legal matter, failed to communicate with a client,
failed to return an unearned fee, and failed to cooperate with ODC’s investigation.

3. Shelley Ann Martin. Hearing Committee #23 recommended the disbarment of the respondent. The
respondent was arrested for drug use and possession, had a sexual relationship with her client,
engaged in unauthorized practice during a period of ineligibility, and failed to appear in court.
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Claire Zeringue November 2, 2017

October 2017 Discipline
lalegalethics.org /october-2017-discipline/

These lawyers were the subject of Louisiana Supreme Court disciplinary orders or Louisiana Attorney
Disciplinary Board recommendations that were made public during the month of October 2017.

Louisiana Supreme Court

1. Robert B. Purser. The court permanently disbarred the
respondent.  The court found that the respondent converted client
funds, mismanaged his client trust account, neglected legal
matters, mistreated clients, and practiced law after being placed
on suspension.

2. Joseph M. Bruno. The court suspended the respondent for a
ninety-day period, with all but thirty days deferred. The
respondent failed to communicate with a client and neglected that
client’s legal matter causing the matter to prescribe.

3. Richard E. Smith. The court accepted a joint petition for consent
discipline and suspended the respondent for one year and one
day, with all but sixty days deferred.  The court also ordered two-
years of unsupervised probation. The respondent improperly
handled his trust account, although the order imposing does not describe the respondent’s conduct in
detail.

4. Mark G. Simmons. The court suspended the respondent for one year and one day, with all but sixty
days deferred.  Additionally, the court ordered two years of supervised probation during which the
respondent must complete the LSBA’s trust accounting and ethics schools, and must have his trust
account audited each quarter.  The respondent neglected a legal matter, failed to communicate with
a client, mismanaged a client trust account, and failed to cooperate with the ODC in its investigation.

5. Michael Louis Martin. The court suspended the respondent for two years.  The respondent
commingled and converted client funds, which resulted in potential harm to clients.

6. Peter Brian Derouen. The court disbarred the respondent. The respondent neglected a client’s
settlement, converted funds from the client and a third party relating to that settlement, and failed to
cooperate with ODC’s investigation.

7. Anthony T. Marshall. The court suspended the respondent on an interim basis after the ODC filed a
Petition for Interim Suspension for Threat of Harm.

8. Ronald Seastrunk. The court dismissed all charges against the respondent after finding that the ODC
failed to meet its burden of proof.  The court concluded that Rule 3.8(d) (failing to disclose
exculpatory evidence) is coextensive with the constitutional discloaure obligations set forth in Brady
v. Maryland. For a detailed discussion of this important case, click here.

9. Mignonne G. Griffing. The court suspended the respondent for one year and one day, with all but six
months deferred, followed by a one-year probationary period during which the respondent must
complete an additional forty hours of CLE.  The respondent failed to disclose a personal, romantic

1/2Dane S. Ciolino Page 13 of 30 Legal Ethics



relationship with an FBI agent while employed as an Assistant United States Attorney.

10. Adam Anthony Abdalla . The court permanently disbarred the respondent.  The respondent converted
approximately $40,000 from his law firm over a period of eighteen months by means of unauthorized
checks and fraudulent invoices.

Louisiana Attorney Disciplinary Board

1. Dounnisei Gbalazeh. The board recommended that the court
suspend the respondent for one year and one day. The Louisiana
Supreme Court had previously declared the respondent ineligible
to practice due to failing to comply with MCLE requirements and
failing to pay bar dues.  Respondent later attempted to represent
an immigration client while she was ineligible to practice law in any
jurisdiction.

LADB Hearing Committees

1. Linda Louise Stadler. Hearing Committee #27 recommended a
twelve-month suspension, fully deferred.  The respondent had
previously pleaded guilty to two DWI charges (one in 2002 and
one in 2014). The committee did not find that the respondent had an ongoing alcohol problem
requiring treatment.

2. Errol John Ware. Hearing Committee #23 recommended the permanent disbarment of the
respondent.  The committee found that the respondent failed to diligently represent his client, failed to
act with candor toward the tribunal and his client, mismanaged funds, and refused to cooperate with
the ODC.

3. Daniel E. Becnel, III. Hearing Committee #8 recommended a one year suspension, with all but sixty
days deffered followed by a one-year active period of probation with regular audtis of IOLTA account,
six hours of CLE in law office/client trust account management, and completion of LSBA’s trust
accounting program.  The committee found that the respondent negligently mishandled his trust
account, but that his conduct was neither intentional nor “knowing”.

4. Chantell Marie Boutte. Hearing Committee #20 recommended the disbarment of the respondent.
 The respondent failed to communicate with clients, abandoned her law practice and clients without
notice, converted client funds, and failed to properly withdraw from cases.

5. Timmy James Fontenot. Hearing Committee #22 recommended the disbarment of the respondent.
 The respondent forged a client’s settlement check, converted client funds, and failed to act with
reasonable diligence and promptness.
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Dane S. Ciolino October 30, 2017

When Paying a Fact Witness is Inappropriate
lalegalethics.org /when-paying-a-fact-witness-is-inappropriate/

A recent suspension imposed by the Nevada Supreme Court sends a
cautionary message to lawyers who might offer to pay money to fact
witnesses. The lawyer, Jonathan Callister, sent a letter to a person who
witnessed a will that Callister’s client disputed. Callister offered the witness
$7,000 “[i]n exchange for your honest testimony. . . that you never
witnessed the Decedent signing a will,” and noted “the legal implications of
perjury” if the witness did not disavow the will. In suspending Callister for 35
days, the court stated that “[i]t is unethical for a lawyer to offer money to a
fact witness contingent on the content of the witness’s testimony.” See In re
Callister, No. 70901 at 2 (NV. 2017). Even though the testimony that
Callister solicited was truthful, his offer of payment was nonetheless
contingent on the substance of the witness’s testimony and thus violated
Nevada Rule 3.4(b) (which provides that a lawyer shall not “offer an inducement to a witness that is
prohibited by law”). Id. at 4.

All payments to fact witnesses, however, are not unlawful. Several ethics opinions have considered and
approved payments of costs and lost income. For example, a 2017 West Virginia advisory opinion
addressed “whether fact witnesses can be compensated for lost time spent testifying and/or preparing to
testify.” See W.V. L.E.O. 2017-01 (May 22, 2017). The Board found that “reasonable” compensation for
preparation does not violate the state’s professional conduct standards:

[C]ompensating a fact witness for time spent preparing for testimony and being interviewed
is permissible under the Rules of Professional Conduct. This is only allowed if the
compensation is reasonable and not based upon the outcome of the litigation. The
agreement to pay compensation should be in writing and disclosed to the opposing side.

Id. at 7.

Are such payments to a fact witness permissible in Louisiana? Yes. Louisiana Rule of Professional Conduct
3.4(b) provides that “[a] lawyer shall not . . . offer an inducement to a witness that is prohibited by law.”
Given this language, a lawyer must “look outside the rule to ascertain which inducements are prohibited by
law and therefore unethical.” See ABA/BNA Lawyes’ Manual on Professional Cond. § 61:718 (2007).
Louisiana law expressly prohibits only one type of “inducement”—a bribe. “Bribery” is the “giving or offering
to give, directly or indirectly, anything of apparent present or prospective value” to any “[w]itness, or person
about to be called as a witness, upon a trial or other proceeding” if the payment is made “with the intent to
influence his conduct . . . .” See La. Rev. Stat. § 14:118(A)(1)(d); see also 18 U.S.C.A. § 201.

Louisiana case law contains no per se prohibition against payments to fact witnesses. The few reported
decisions that address the issue reflect judicial disapproval only when the payment is made with improper
motive. For example, the Louisiana Supreme Court disbarred a lawyer for paying a bribe to a witness with
the intent to influence the witness’s testimony. See In re Hingle, 717 So. 2d 636 (La. 1998). Likewise, the
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Louisiana Supreme Court disbarred a lawyer who made a payment to a witness for the purpose of inducing
him “to provide false and misleading information.” See La. State Bar Assoc. v. Thierry, 573 So. 2d 1099,
1103 (La. 1991). The Louisiana Supreme Court suspended a lawyer, in part, because he made a payment
to a fact witness whose cooperation was contingent on the payment. See In re Bruno, 956 So. 2d 577, 578-
79 (La. 2007).

Although no reported Louisiana decision addresses whether it is appropriate to pay a fact witness for the
witness’s lost income and expenses attendant to trial or deposition preparation, the preponderance of
persuasive authority suggests that a lawyer should not be subjected to discipline for making such a
payment. For example, the Restatement of the Law Governing Lawyers permits a lawyer to pay the
“reasonable expenses of the witness incurred and the reasonable value of the witness’s time spent in
providing evidence.” See Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 117(1) (2000). Comment “b”
to this section clarifies that it encompasses time and expenses “incurred in preparation for and giving
testimony, such as lost wages caused by the witness’s absence from employment.” Id. cmt. b (emphasis
added). Likewise, the American Bar Association Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility has
opined, as have most state bar associations that have considered the issue, that Model Rule 3.4(b) permits
lawyers to pay fact witnesses for the income actually lost and expenses actually incurred to prepare for trial
testimony. See ABA Comm. on Ethics and Professional Responsibility, Formal Op. 96-402 (1996). According
to the committee,

there is no reason to draw a distinction between (a) compensating a witness for time spent
in actually attending a deposition or a trial and (b) compensating the witness for time spent
in pretrial interviews with the lawyer in preparation for testifying, so long as the lawyer makes
it clear to the witness that the payment is not being made for the substance (or efficacy) of
the witness’s testimony or as an inducement to “tell the truth.” The Committee is further of
the view that the witness may also be compensated for time spent in reviewing and
researching records that are germane to his or her testimony, provided, of course, that such
compensation is not barred by local law.

Id. In summary, the Louisiana Rules of Professional Conduct, relevant statutory law, case law, and
persuasive authority all indicate that a lawyer should not be subjected to discipline for paying a fact witness
if:

1. the payment is not motivated by an improper purpose, such as to obtain “inside information,” to
obtain false testimony or to influence the content of the witness’s testimony;

2. the amount paid merely compensates the witness for the reasonable value of the time and expenses
actually incurred by the witness; and,

3. the amount of the payment is not contingent on the witness’s testimony.
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Dane S. Ciolino October 29, 2017

Louisiana Attorney General Concludes That Proposed
Anti-Discrimination Rule is Unconstitutional

lalegalethics.org /louisiana-attorney-general-concludes-that-proposed-anti-discrimination-rule-is-
unconstitutional/

On September 8, 2017, the Louisiana Attorney General’s office
weighed in on the constitutionality of a proposed anti-discrimination
amendment to the Louisiana Rules of Professsional Conduct.  In July
2017, the Louisiana State Bar Association Rules of Professional
Conduct Committee distributed for public comment a new anti-
discrimination standard of professional conduct, proposed Rule 8.4(h),
that would provide as follows if adopted by the Louisiana Supreme
Court:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (h) engage in
conduct in connection with the practice of law that the lawyer
knows or reasonably should know involves discrimination
prohibited by law because of race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national
origin, marital status, or disability. This Rule does not prohibit legitimate advocacy when
race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, or
disability are issues, nor does it limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline or withdraw
from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16.

See LSBA Rules of Professonal Conduct, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report Executive Summary at p. 2 (Mar.
24, 2017); see also LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct Committee, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report (Mar.
24, 2017) (full report). The LSBA is considering this rule in response to newly-minted ABA Model Rule
8.4(g), which prohibits a lawyer from engagining in certain “harassment or discrimination” in “conduct
related to the practice of law”:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (g) engage in conduct that the lawyer knows
or reasonably should know is harassment or discrimination on the basis of race, sex,
religion, national origin, ethnicity, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital
status or socioeconomic status in conduct related to the practice of law. This paragraph does
not limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline, or withdraw from a representation in
accordance with Rule 1.16. This paragraph does not preclude legitimate advice or advocacy
consistent with these rules.

See ABA Model Rule of Prof’l Conduct r. 8.4(g); ABA Revised Resolution 109 (adopted Aug. 8, 2016).

After considering the proposed LSBA provision and new ABA Model Rule 8.4(g), the Louisiana Attorney
General’s office concluded that both are unconstitutional: “[I]t is the opinion of this office that a court would
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likely find ABA Model Rule 8.4(g) unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments. Although
proposed [LSBA] Rule 8.4(h) seeks to avoid many of the constitutional infirmities of the Model Rule, the
proposed rule does not clearly define what type of behavior is prohibited and suffers from the same
vagueness and overbreadth issues as ABA Model Rule 8.4(g).”  See Op. La. Att’y Gen’l No. 17-0114 at 9
(Sep. 8, 2017). The reasoning underlying the attorney general’s opinions is as follows.

First Amendment Issues
First, the opinion concludes that the proposed regulation unconstitutionally restricts lawyer commercial
speech. The ABA model rule and the proposed Louisiana rule are content-based regulations because they
target speech based on the “viewpoints expressed” as well as the “subject matter and topic.” Id. at 3. Such
regulations are “presumptively invalid.” Id. at 3. A presumptively-invalid, content-based regulation survives
strict scrutiny under the First Amendment only if (1) the regulation serves a compelling governmental
interest, and (2) the regulation is narrowly tailored to serve that compelling interest. Id. at 4. Citing In re
Warner, 21 So. 3d 218, 227 (La. 2009), the opinion notes that a compelling interest exists to support a
restriction on speech only if the regulation seeks to address a nonspecutlative and real societal harm. Here,
the opinion argues, the LSBA has identified “no Louisiana discrimination cases” involving lawyers that were
not already regulated by Louisiana Rule 8.4(d), which prohibits conduct “prejudicial to the administration of
justice.” Because there is no “evidence that such a restriction on speech is necessary to cure a real harm, it
is unlikely a court would find there is a compelling state interest.” Id. at 5.

Second, the opinion concludes that the proposed regulation is overbroad. More particularly, it argues that
applying an anti-discrimination regulation to lawyer conduct “related to the practice of the law” or “in
connection with the practice of law” presents overbreadth problems. Such a sweeping regulation
“encompasses many areas and scenarios outside of the courtroom that are entitled to First Amendment
protection.” Id. at 6. Among other possibilities, the rule would regulate and restrict the following:

a lawyer engaged in a private conversation at a social activity sponsored by a law firm or bar
association;

a lawyer who expresses his “opinions, thoughts, or impressions on legal matters taking place in the
news at a social function”; and,

a lawyer participating in a continuing legal education panel discussion or authoring a law review
article.

As a result, the opinion concludes that the proposal “is unconstitutionally overbroad as it prohibits and chills
a substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech and conduct.” Id.

Third, the opinion concludes that the proposed regulation unconstitutionally restricts a lawyer’s freedom of
association and free excercise of religion. It argues that lawyers “participate in a wide variety of associations
that engage in expressive conduct which could run afoul of ABA Model Rule 8.4(g), including faith-based
legal organizations and activist organizations that promote a specific political or social
platform” such as “the Christian Legal Society, Jewish Legal Society, and Muslim Legal Society.” Id. at 6.
The opinion speculates that “a lawyer who acts as a legal advisor on the board of their church would be
engaging in professional misconduct if they participated in a march against same-sex marriage or taught a
class at their religious institution against divorce (i.e., marital status).” Id. at 7. Therefore, “it is our opinion
that a court would likely find ABA Model Rule 8.4(g) violates the First Amendment because it can be applied
in a manner that unconstitutionally restricts a lawyer’s participation and involvement with both faith-based
and secular groups that advocate or promote a specific religious, political, or social platform.” Id.
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Due Process Issues
Finally, the opinion concludes that the ABA model rule (and its comments), and the LSBA proposal are
unconstitutionally vague in violaiton of Due Process. A regulation is “void for vagueness if its
prohibitions are not clearly defined” and do not “give a person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable
opportunity to know what is prohibited.” The following terms in the model rule and the LSBA proposal are
questionable:

The terms “harassment” and “discrimination” as defined in the comments to the model rule are
similar to the term “annoy,” which the United States Supreme Court has found to be vague. “Conduct
that is harmful, derogatory, or demeaning to some may not be to others and invites arbitrary and
discriminatory enforcement.” Id. at 8.

The prohibition against conduct that “involves” discrimination suggests that “an actual violation of a
law is not required for a finding of professional misconduct.” As a result, this prohibition is “not clearly
defined.” Id. at 8-9.

Conclusion
The attorney general concludes that the LSBA’s proposed amendment would not only be unconstitutional,
but also unnecessary in light of the current regulatory framework:

The existing Rules of Professional Conduct and Louisiana laws against discrimination
address the perceived problems identified in the Subcommittee’s report. There has been no
demonstration that there is a need for proposed Rule 8.4(h) in Louisiana. Rule 8.4(d)
addresses actions of lawyers which are prejudicial to the administration of justice and
includes actions which are prejudicial to the administration of justice because they are
discriminatory.

Id. at 9.

The Louisiana State Bar Association Rules of Professional Conduct Committee will consider these, and a
myriad of other suggestions, at its meeting on October 30, 2017.
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Danielle Vasquez October 29, 2017

“Ghetto” Remark by Lawyer Draws Public Reprimand
lalegalethics.org /ghetto-remark-by-lawyer-draws-public-reprimand/

Colorado lawyer Robert Brent Wareham admitted to
violating the Colorado Rules of Professional Conduct by
threatening his client’s son with foster care unless the boy
“started behaving.” Wareham elaborated: “You will obey
your mother…. You go to…a Christian high school. You’re
behaving like some kid out of the ghetto.”

The Colorado Rules of Professional Conduct prohibit a
lawyer from using “means that have no substantial purpose
other than to embarrass, delay, or burden a third person . .
. .”  See Co. Rule of Prof’l Conduct r. 4.4(a). The rules also
prohibit a lawyer from engaging in “conduct that exhibits bias against a person based on the person’s race,
gender, religion, national origin, disability, age sexual orientation or socioeconomic status, when such
conduct is directed to anyone involved in the legal process.” See Co. Rule of Prof’l Conduct r. 8.4(g).

Finding violations of both provisions—the child’s “race” was apparently disparaged by the “ghetto” comment
—the Colorado Supreme Court publicly censured Wareham. See People v. Robert Brent Wareham, No.
17PDJ021 (Co. Sep. 13, 2017).

Although Louisiana has a rule prohibitting a lawyer from embarrassing a third person for “no substantial
purpose,” see La. Rules of Prof’l Conduct r. 4.4, it has no rule prohibiting conduct that “exhibits bias” against
persons based on certain classifications. In September 2017, however, the Louisiana State Bar
Association’s Rules of Professional Conduct Committee began accepting written comments on the adoption
of a new anti-discrimination standard of professional conduct. A subcommittee of the Rules Committee has
proposed the addition of a new Louisiana Rule 8.4(h), that would provide as follows:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (h) engage in conduct in connection with the
practice of law that the lawyer knows or reasonably should know involves discrimination
prohibited by law because of race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national
origin, marital status, or disability. This Rule does not prohibit legitimate advocacy when
race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, or
disability are issues, nor does it limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline or withdraw
from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16.

See LSBA Rules of Professonal Conduct, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report Executive Summary at p. 2 (Mar.
24, 2017); see also LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct Committee, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report (Mar.
24, 2017) (full report). Even this proposed provision would not call for discipline for a lawyer’s use of a
racially disparaging comment—unless the comment was also “discrimination prohibited by law.”
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Dane S. Ciolino October 29, 2017

Avvo Advisor’s Lawyer Referral Service Takes Another
Hit

lalegalethics.org /avvo-advisors-lawyer-referral-service-takes-another-hit/

On September 27, 2017, Utah joined the growing list of
states1 condemning Avvo Advisor’s lawyer-referral service.
The Utah Ethics Advisory Opinion Committee concluded
that Avvo Advisor’s service “violates Rule 5.4’s prohibition
on splitting fees with a non-lawyer. It also violates Rule
7.2’s restrictions on payment for recommending a lawyer’s
services and it may violate a number of other Rules related
to client confidentiality, lawyer independence, and
safekeeping of client property, depending on facts not
presented.” See Utah Ethics Advisory Opinion Committee,
Op. No. 17-05 (Sep. 27, 2017).

How does Avvo Advisor work? A prospective client visits
the website https://www.avvo.com/advisor, selects the legal services needed, pays Avvo a fixed fee, and
Avvo arranges for an “experienced lawyer” to return the prospective client’s call within minutes.2

From the lawyer’s standpoint, participating is easy. The lawyer simply clicks the “Join Today” button and
agrees to provide certain legal services for a fixed fee. For example, the flat fee for a “15-minute Family
advice session” is $39.00; filing for an “uncontested divorce” is $995.00; and creating a “last will and
testament” is $295.00. Avvo boasts:

With more than 8 million visits to Avvo each month, we can connect you with clients who
have already paid for limited-scope legal services. There’s no chasing leads.

You choose from dozens of legal services and control your availability. Clients only buy what
you want to sell, when you want to sell it.

Avvo handles the billing up front, so you can focus on getting the client the help they need.
No sending invoices.

After the lawyer provides the services, Avvo sends the lawyer “100% of the client’s payment.” The lawyer
then “[a]s a completely separate transaction,” pays a “per-service marketing fee.” The amount of that
marketing fee “depends on the service, and ranges from a $10 marketing fee for a $39 service, to $40
marketing fee for a $149 service, up to a $400 marketing fee for a $2995 service. See Attorney FAQ for
Avvo Legal Services.

“Is it ethical?,” you ask. According to Avvo, “yes, it is.” Avvo says that it is not getting paid for lawyer
referrals: “Avvo is not referring people to a particular lawyer. Potential client choose which attorney they
would like to work with from all available, participating attorneys.” Furthermore, Avvo says that it is not
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sharing in legal fees: “Fee splits are not inherently unethical. They only become a problem if the split
creates a situation that may compromise a lawyer’s professional independence of judgment. We believe
that Avvo Legal Services fees, if deducted like credit card fees, would involve the sort of technical fee split
that would not create such a potential for compromise.” See id.

The problem is that Avvo is wrong. As the new Utah opinion correctly concludes: “The referral service
described in the request violates Rule 5.4 as impermissible fee sharing, [and] violates Rule 7.2 as paying for
a recommendation of services beyond the reasonable costs of advertising” among other problems. See
Utah Ethics Advisory Opinion Committee, Op. No. 17-05 at 4-5 (Sep. 27, 2017).

Louisiana?
Considering these unfavorable ethics opinions, Louisiana
lawyers should avoid participating in Avvo
Advisor. Louisiana Rule 5.4(a) provides that a “lawyer or
law firm shall not share legal fees with a nonlawyer,”
except under unusual circumstances. Similarly, Louisiana Rule 7.2(c)(13) provides that a “lawyer shall not
give anything of value to a person for recommending the lawyer’s services, except that a lawyer may pay
the reasonable cost of advertising or written or recorded communication permitted by these Rules, and may
pay the usual charges of a lawyer referral service . . . .” Both rules are squarely implicated by Avvo’s
questionable business model.

1. The Utah opinion cited opinions from five other states that likewise condemned Avvo’s lawyer-referral
service. See South Carolina Ethics Op. 16-06 (2016); Pennsylvania Ethics Op. 2016-200
(2016); Ohio Ethics Op. 2016-3 (2016); New York State Ethics Op. 1132, (2017); New Jersey Ethics
Op. 732, (2017).

2. Note that Avvo offers this service in Louisiana.
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Dane S. Ciolino October 29, 2017

Prosecutor’s Ethical Duty to Disclose Exculpatory
Information is Coextensive With Constitutional Duty

lalegalethics.org /prosecutors-ethical-duty-to-disclose-exculpatory-information-is-coextensive-with-
constitutional-duty/

On October 18, 2017, the Louisiana Supreme Court resolved an unsettled
question as to whether a prosecutor’s “ethical” duty to disclose exculpatory
evidence under Louisiana Rule of Professional Conduct 3.8(d) is broader than
the similar constitutional duty under Brady v. Maryland (U.S. 1963). In an
opinion written by Justice Crichton, the court determined that the duties “are
coextensive.” See In re Ronald Seastrunk, No. 2017-B-0178 (La. Oct. 18,
2017).1

Ronald Seastrunk was a prosecutor employed by the office of the Vernon
Parish District Attorney. From 2010 through 2012, he and former assistant
district attorney (and current district judge) Scott Westerchil prosecuted Justin
Sizemore for murdering Christopher Hoffpauir. After two mistrials, Mr. Sizemore
was convicted of second degree murder in May 2012. The principal state
witness at all three Sizemore trials was the victim’s estranged wife, Kristyn Hoffpauir. After pleading guilty
and “turning state’s evidence,” Kristyn testified that she was dating the defendant, Mr. Sizemore, and that he
shot and killed her husband. The defense contended, however, that she was the perpetrator and lied about
Sizemore’s role. The jury rejected Kristyn’s testimony, and unanimously convicted Mr. Sizemore of murder.

ODC contended that the prosecutors failed to turn over impeachment evidence obtained from Jody
Thibeaux, a witness who testified for the defense. More particularly, ODC contended that during the first trial
prosecutors suggested that Kristyn could not have been “the shooter” because she was not familiar with
firearms; that a Vernon Parish Sheriff’s Office detective, Ray Ortiz, interviewed Thibeaux after the first trial
and learned that Kristyn had previously possessed a stolen .22-caliber revolver; and, that the state “failed to
disclose” Kristyn’s prior gun possession in violation of Brady. ODC alleged that Seastrunk and Westerchil
violated Rule 3.8(d) by ‘failing to make timely disclosure to the defense of all evidence or information known
to the prosecutor that the prosecutor knows, or reasonably should know, either tends to negate the guilt of
the accused or mitigates the offense . . . .’”

Rule 3.8(d) provides as follows:

The prosecutor in a criminal case shall: . . . . (d) make timely disclosure to the defense of all
evidence or information known to the prosecutor that the prosecutor knows, or reasonably
should know, either tends to negate the guilt of the accused or mitigates the offense, and, in
connection with sentencing, disclose to the defense and to the tribunal all unprivileged
mitigating information known to the prosecutor, except when the prosecutor is relieved of this
responsibility by a protective order of the tribunal . . . .

La. Rules of Prof’l Conduct r. 3.8(d). On its face, this ethical rule is not limited to “material” exculpatory
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evidence, namely, evidence important enough to affect the outcome of a case. Under the constitutional
standard of Brady, however, “a constitutional error occurs, and the conviction must be reversed, only if the
evidence is material in the sense that its suppression undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial.”
United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 678 (1985); Cone v. Bell, 556 U.S. 449, 470 (2009) (due process “as
interpreted by Brady, only mandates the disclosure of material evidence . . . .”); see also State v. LaCaze,
2016 WL 7335789 at *6 n.5 (La. Dec. 16, 2016) (noting that under “the Brady materiality standard” the
defendant must demonstrate that the undisclosed evidence caused him to receive “an unfair trial resulting in
a verdict not worthy of confidence”); State v. Blank, 192 So. 3d 93, 102 (La. 2016) (“a prosecutor does not
breach his duty to disclose favorable evidence ‘unless the omission is of sufficient significance to result in
the denial of the defendant’s right to a fair trial””). A prosecutor has no constitutional duty to disclose
impeachment evidence unless failing to produce it would be “of sufficient significance to result in the denial
of the defendant’s right to a fair trial.” United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 108 (1976).

The information about the .22-caliber revolver–namely, that Kristyn once possessed such a weapon–was
not “material” because it would have had no effect whatsoever on the Sizemore trial. Indeed, ODC
conceded that the evidence withheld in the Sizemore trial was not material and exculpatory under Brady.
Nevertheless, ODC argued that disclosure was “ethically required by Rule 3.8(d).”

In rejecting ODC’s argument, the court held that the ethical and constitutional disclosure obligations are co-
extensive. In so doing, the court reasoned that “under conflicting standards, prosecutors would face
uncertainty as to how to proceed, as they could find themsleves in compliance with the standard
enumerated in Brady, but in potential violation of the obligation set forth in Rule 3.8(d).” Id. at 18.
Furthermore, a broader obligation under Rule 3.8(d) would invite “the use of an ethical rule as a tactical
weapon in criminal litigation.” Id. As a result, the court dismissed the formal charges against Mr. Seastrunk.

The court’s decision in Seizmore was correct. Expanding Louisiana Rule 3.8(d) beyond the limits of Brady
would have been bad policy. Although a minority of states2 impose a broader “ethical” obligation to disclose
exculpatory information, doing so in Louisiana would have subjected prosecutors to unwarranted discipline.
Among other problems, untethering Rule 3.8(d) from Brady and the Louisiana Rules of Criminal Procedure 3

would have exposed prosecutors to discipline for simply complying with federal constitutional law and state
statutory law. Disconnecting Rule 3.8(d) and Brady would have transformed routine discovery disputes into
disciplinary actions. Imposing discipline on a prosecutor for failing to turn over information that is absolutely
inconsequential would have been pointless and unfair. For that reason, the Seastrunk opinon correctly
brings Louisiana into line with a majority of states. See State ex rel. Okla. Bar Ass’n v. Ward, 353 P.3d 509
(Okla. 2015); Disciplinary Counsel v. Kellogg-Martin, 923 N.E.2d 125 (Ohio 2010); United States v. Weiss,
No. 05-CR-179-B, 2006 WL 1752373 (D. Colo. June 21, 2006); In re Attorney C, 47 P.3d 1167 (Colo. 2002).

Louisiana Rule 3.8(d) Should Now be Amended
Given the court’s decision in Seastrunk, the LSBA should propose to the Louisiana Supreme Court that Rule
3.8(d) be amended to expressly include the Brady “materiality” standard in the black-letter text of the rule. A
revision to accomplish this would be as simple as inserting the word “material” into the rule:

The prosecutor in a criminal case shall: . . . (d) make timely disclosure to the defense of all
material evidence or information known to the prosecutor that the prosecutor knows, or
reasonably should know, either tends to negate the guilt of the accused or mitigates the
offense, and, in connection with sentencing, disclose to the defense and to the tribunal all
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material unprivileged mitigating information known to the prosecutor, except when the
prosecutor is relieved of this responsibility by a protective order of the tribunal . . . .

1. Dane S. Ciolino represented Mr. Seastrunk in the disciplinary proceedings before the Louisiana
Attorney Disciplinary Board and the Louisiana Supreme Court.

2. In re Larsen, No. 20140535, 2016 WL 3369545 (Utah 2016); In re Disciplinary Action Against Feland ,
820 N.W.2d 672 (N.D. 2012); ABA Formal Op. 09-454 (2009).

3. La. Code Crim. P. art. 723(B) (requiring disclosure of “any evidence constitutionally required to be
disclosed pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and its progeny.”).
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Dane S. Ciolino October 4, 2017

Facebook “Freindship” with Lawyer Does Not
Disqualify Judge

lalegalethics.org /facebook-freindship-with-lawyer-does-not-disqualify-judge/

On August 23, 2017, a Florida appellate court ruled that a district
judge may preside over a civil action even though she is
Facebook friends with a lawyer appearing before her. See Law
Offices of Herssein and Herssein, P.A. v. United Services
Automobile Ass’n, No. 3D17-1421 (Fl. Ct. App. 3d Dist. Aug. 23,
2017).

Noting that that Facebook contacts often are not equivalent to
real-life friends, the court found that no “reasonably prudent
person would fear that he or she could not get a fair and impartial
trial because the judge is a Facebook friend with a lawyer who
represents a potential witness and party to the lawsuit.” On the
contrary, “[a]n assumption that all Facebook ‘friends’ rise to the level of a close relationship that warrants
disqualification simply does not reflect the current nature of this type of electronic social networking.” The
court noted the following three reasons for its holding:

1. Some people have thousands of Facebook friends, which reflects how distant many Facebook
relationships truly are.

2. Facebook members often don’t even know who their friends are.

3. Friendships formed by Facebook’s “data mining and networking algorithms” is a product of an
“astounding development in applied mathematics.” But while these algorithms are powerful tools “to
build personal and professional networks,” they have “nothing to do with close or intimate friendships
of the sort that would require recusal.” Id. at 8-9.

In short, “friends” aren’t always friends. A well-reasoned opinion.
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Snoopy

Dane S. Ciolino September 29, 2017

Lawyer Disbarred for Killing “Snoopy”
lalegalethics.org /lawyer-disbarred-for-killing-snoopy/

New York City lawyer Anthony A. Pastor was disbarred for violently
killing his girlfriend’s poodle “Snoopy.” See Matter of Pastor, 2017 NY
Slip Op 06729, (App. Div. 1st Dept. Sep. 28, 2017).

The New York Post reported his girlfriend’s trial testimony as follows: “’I
looked down and there was Snoopy — stiff, not moving — her eyes
were sunken into her head, and there were feces behind her, then I went
closer, and I touched her and she was cold and hard,” she said. An
animal autopsy revealed that the little pooch, who [the girlfriend]
described as a ‘ball of fluffy cuteness,’ had nine broken ribs, a
pulverized kidney and massive internal bleeding.”

In disbarring Pastor, the court noted the sentencing judge’s comments
that the respondent’s conduct “‘showed almost incomprehensible
violence, and malice,’ that the dog was in ‘excruciating pain’ up until she
lost consciousness while respondent ‘sat down at his computer in the
most cold blooded manner, and went to work, knowing that the dog lay
dying, . . . on the floor behind him.'”

This case is chillingly reminiscent of the 1993 Maryland case in which a
lawyer was suspended for microwaving a cat.
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Dane S. Ciolino September 10, 2017

Lawyer Creates False Match.com Profile to Harass
Opposing Counsel

lalegalethics.org /lawyer-creates-false-match-com-profile-to-harass-opposing-counsel/

Illinois Lawyer Drew R. Quitschau created a false Match.com profile—
and numerous other fake Internet accounts—in the name of his
opposing counsel in a bizarre effort to stalk and harrass her. In
answering a disciplinary complaint filed before the Illinois Attoreny
Registration and Disciplinary Commission, Quitschau admitted to the
following misconduct. See Answer to Complaint, In re Drew R.
Quitschau, IL Atty. Registration and Disciplinary Comm’n, No. 2017-PR-
00084 (filed Aug. 28, 2017).

The respondent and Jane Doe were opposing counsel in dozens of
family-law cases since 2003. In September 2016, Quitschau created
a false online dating profile in Doe’s name and posted that she was
separated, does not exercise, and that she liked NASCAR and pizza.
He downloaded photographs from Doe’s law firm website and
uploaded them to Match.com.

In addition, Quitschau created unauthorized online registrations in
Doe’s name for other organizations, including the Obesity Action
Coalition, Pig International, and Diabetic Living. He also fabricated
false reviews and negative, one-start ratings regarding Doe’s
professional competence on Martindale.com, Lawyers.com, and
Facebook.com.

Doe reported Quitschau to Illinois disciplinary authorities and
obtained an emergency no-stalking/no-contact protective order
against him. See Edith Brady-Lunny, No-Stalking Order vs. Lawyer
Over Fake Dating Post (Feb. 16, 2017). Given that Quitschau has admitted to violating Illinois Rule 8.4(c),
which prohibits conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, the only issue in his
disciplinary proceeding will be the imposition of an appropriate sanction for his unusual misconduct.
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Dane S. Ciolino September 9, 2017

Can I Scan My Closed Files and Shred the Paper?
lalegalethics.org /can-i-scan-my-closed-files-and-shred-the-paper/

Yes you can. A recent advisory opinion from Nebraska addressed this issue, and
concluded that “given the impact of technology on how files can be retained, it is
not reasonable or practical to keep physical/paper copies of every client file.” See
Neb. Ethics Adv. Op. for Lawyers No. 17-02 at 3089 (Aug. 2017). Thus, nothing
prohibits a lawyer from “keeping a closed client file in electronic form and
immediately destroying the physical copy.” Id. at 3089.

The Louisiana Revised Statutes likewise permit a Louisiana lawyer to maintain
copies of past (and present) client records solely in electronic format. After digital
imaging, a lawyer may “dispose of the original record,” unless the record relates
to a claim or report due to the State of Louisiana. See La. Rev. Stat. §
13:3733(A). An electronically-imaged document “shall be deemed to be an original record for all purposes
and shall be treated as an original record in all courts or administrative agencies for the purpose of its
admissibility in evidence.” See id. § 13:3733(B).1

Prior to making a decision to destroy or to electronically image client documents, a lawyer must make
reasonable efforts to assure that the subject documents are eligible for destruction or imaging. The
Nebraska opinion advises that a lawyer should consider the following factors in deciding which paper files
to destroy:

the availability and cost of physical and electronic storage space;

the ease of access to documents;

the potential need for originals in future litigation; and,

the need to preserve confidentiality.

Id. at 3092. In most instances, a lawyer need not review each individual document. Rather, the lawyer can
simply review broad categories of folders or boxes under consideration for destruction. However, the extent
and nature of a lawyer’s predestruction review efforts will turn on the nature of the lawyer’s practice and the
documents in issue.

How Long Must You Keep Closed Files?
If you store your files electronically, it is virtually costless to keep them forever. So, you probably should. But
if you want to occasionally purge your paper and electronic files, two standards inform the answer to the
“how long should I keep them” question. Louisiana Rule 1.15(a) provides as follows with regard to trust
account documents:

A lawyer shall hold property of clients or third persons that is in a lawyer’s possession in
connection with a representation separate from the lawyer’s own property. Funds shall be
kept in a separate account maintained in a bank or similar institution in the state where the
lawyer’s office is situated, or elsewhere with the consent of the client or third person. . . .
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Complete records of such account funds and other property shall be kept by the lawyer and
shall be preserved for a period of five years after termination of the representation.

Furthermore, Louisiana Civil Code Article 3496, provides that “[a]n action by a client against an attorney for
the return of papers delivered to him for purposes of a law suit is subject to a liberative prescription of three
years. This prescription commences to run from the rendition of a final judgment in the law suit or the
termination of the attorney-client relationship.”

Given these standards, a good rule of thumb is to keep client files for five (5) years following termination of
the matter, unless there is a good reason for maintaining the file for a longer period of time. Such a good
reason would exist if the file relates to unprescribed claims, to a minor, or if the file contains promissory
notes, wills, trusts or similar “original” documents.

Model Engagement Agreement Provision
To avoid any confusion regarding the destruction of closed files, a lawyer should address the issue in the
lawyer’s client engagement agreement. Here is some recommended language for a paperless lawyer:

Lawyer will scan and store all Client files in electronic PDF format and destroy all hard-copy
(paper) files given to or received by Lawyer immediately after scanning. All files will be stored
“in the cloud” using widely-used providers such as SugarSync and Dropbox. Lawyer and
Client understand that there are risks to confidentiality associated with this means of
data/document storage. Lawyer will store at Lawyer’s expense all relevant PDF files relating
to Matter for a period of up to five (5) years following termination of Lawyer’s representation.
Lawyer may thereafter destroy all of Client’s files without further notice to Client. Client may
request in writing that Lawyer make available to Client or the Client’s designee any PDF files
in Lawyer’s possession that have not been destroyed. Within seven (7) days of receipt of
such request, Lawyer shall make electronic (not hard-copy) files available for download.

 

 

1. The ABA is in accord, advising that lawyer records “may be maintained by electronic, photographic,
or other media provided that . . . printed copies can be produced” and that the records are “readily
accessible to the lawyer.” See ABA Model Rules for Client Trust Account Records r. 3 (Aug. 9, 2010).
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